
 

Thurrock - An ambitious and collaborative community which is proud of its heritage 
and excited by its diverse opportunities and future 

 

Council 
 

To the Members of Thurrock Council 
 
The next meeting of the Council on 24 November 2021 will commence 
following the completion of the postponed 22 September 2021 Council 
meeting, which will take place on the same evening, starting at 6pm.  
 
South Essex College Auditorium, High Street, Grays, Essex, RM17 6TF 

 
Members of the Public can attend all meetings of the Council and its 
committees however they will be expected to follow the Council’s Covid 
safety procedures.  
 
Membership of the Council: 
 
Sue Shinnick (Mayor) 
James Halden (Deputy Mayor) 
 
 

Qaisar Abbas 
Abbie Akinbohun 
Alex Anderson 
Chris Baker 
Gary Byrne 
Adam Carter 
Daniel Chukwu 
Colin Churchman 
Gary Collins 
Mark Coxshall 
Jack Duffin 
Tony Fish 
Mike Fletcher 
Robert Gledhill 
Shane Hebb 
Victoria Holloway 
 

Deborah Huelin 
Andrew Jefferies 
Barry Johnson 
Tom Kelly 
Cathy Kent 
John Kent 
Martin Kerin 
Steve Liddiard 
Susan Little 
Ben Maney 
Fraser Massey 
Allen Mayes 
Sara Muldowney 
Bukky Okunade 
Augustine Ononaji 
Maureen Pearce 
 

Terry Piccolo 
Georgette Polley 
Jane Pothecary 
Shane Ralph 
Kairen Raper 
Joycelyn Redsell 
Elizabeth Rigby 
Sue Sammons 
Jennifer Smith 
Graham Snell 
Luke Spillman 
James Thandi 
David Van Day 
Lee Watson 
Lynn Worrall 
 

 
Lyn Carpenter  
Chief Executive 

 
 
 
 

 
 
Agenda published on: 16 November 2021 
 



 
 



 
 

 
Agenda 

 
Open to Public and Press 

  Page 

1   Apologies for absence  
 

 

2   Minutes 
 

 

 Due to the timings of publication the Minutes of the postponed  
22 September 2021 Council will be included in the 26 January 2022 
agenda. 
 

 

3   Items of Urgent Business 
 

 

 To receive additional items that the Mayor is of the opinion should be 
considered as a matter of urgency, in accordance with Section 100B 
(4) (b) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

 

4   Declaration of Interests 
 

 

 To receive any declaration of interests from Members. 
 

 

5   Announcements on behalf of the Mayor or the Leader of the 
Council  
 

 

6   Questions from Members of the Public 
 

9 - 10 

 In accordance with Chapter 2, Part 2 (Rule 14) of the Council’s 
Constitution. 
 

 

7   Petitions from Members of the Public and Councillors 
 

 

 
In accordance with Chapter 2, Part 2(Rule 14) of the Council’s 
Constitution. 

 

8   Petitions Update Report  
 

11 - 12 

9   Appointments to Committees and Outside Bodies, Statutory 
and Other Panels 
 

 

 The Council are asked to agree any changes to the appointments 
made to committees and outside bodies, statutory and other panels, 
as requested by Group Leaders. 
 

 



 
 

10   Assistant Director Children's Social Care and Early Help 
Appointment  
 

13 - 16 

11   Political Assistants  
 

17 - 20 

12   Report of the Cabinet Member for Central Services  
 

21 - 38 

13   Questions from Members 
 

39 - 40 

 In accordance with Chapter 2, Part 2 (Rule 14) of the Council’s 
Constitution. 
 

 

14   Reports from Members representing the Council on Outside 
Bodies  
 

 

15   Minutes of Committees 
 

 

 
Name of Committee Date 

Planning Committee 19 August 2021 

Planning, Transport and Regeneration 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

6 July 2021 

Cleaner, Greener and Safer Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

14 July 2021 

General Services Committee 5 July 2021 

Children’s Services Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

13 July 2021 

Housing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

22 June 2021 

Planning Committee 23 September 2021 

Standing Advisory Council on Religious 
Education 

16 June 2021 

Health and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

2 September 2021 

Housing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

21 September 2021 

 

 

 
16  

 
Update on motions resolved at Council during the previous year  
 

 
41 - 42 



 
 

17   Motion submitted by Councillor Fletcher  
 

43 - 44 

18   Motion submitted by Councillor Worrall  
 

45 - 46 

19   Motion submitted by Councillor Muldowney  
 

47 - 48 

 
 
 
Queries regarding this Agenda or notification of apologies: 
 
Please contact Jenny Shade, Senior Democratic Services Officer by sending an 
email to Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk 
 
 
Future Dates of Council:  
 
26 January 2022, 23 February 2022 (Budget)
 



This page is intentionally left blank



Information for members of the public and councillors 
 

Access to Information and Meetings 

 

Advice Regarding Public Attendance at Meetings: 

  

Following changes to government advice there is no longer a requirement for public 
attendees to book seats in advance of a committee meeting. All public attendees are 
expected to comply with the following points when physically attending a committee 
meeting:  

  

1. If you are feeling ill or have tested positive for Covid and are isolating you should 
remain at home, the meeting will be webcast and you can attend in that way.  

  

2. You are recommended to wear a face covering (where able) when attending the 
meeting and moving around the council offices to reduce any chance of infection. 
Removal of any face covering would be advisable when speaking publically at the 
meeting.  

  

3. Hand sanitiser will also be available at the entrance for your use.  

 

Whilst the Council encourages all who are eligible to have vaccination and this is 
important in reducing risks around COVID-19, around 1 in 3 people with COVID-19 
do not have any symptoms. This means they could be spreading the virus without 
knowing it. In line with government guidance testing twice a week increases the 
chances of detecting COVID-19 when you are infectious but aren’t displaying 
symptoms, helping to make sure you do not spread COVID-19. Rapid lateral flow 
testing is available for free to anybody. To find out more about testing please visit 
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/coronavirus-covid-19/testing/regular-rapid-coronavirus-
tests-if-you-do-not-have-symptoms/ 

 

Members of the public have the right to see the agenda, which will be published no 
later than 5 working days before the meeting, and minutes once they are published. 

Recording of meetings 

This meeting will be recorded with the recording being published via the Council’s 
website.  

If you have any queries regarding this, please contact Democratic Services at 
Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk 

Page 1

https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/coronavirus-covid-19/testing/regular-rapid-coronavirus-tests-if-you-do-not-have-symptoms/
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/coronavirus-covid-19/testing/regular-rapid-coronavirus-tests-if-you-do-not-have-symptoms/
mailto:Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk


Guidelines on filming, photography, recording and use of social media at 

council and committee meetings 

The council welcomes the filming, photography, recording and use of social media at 
council and committee meetings as a means of reporting on its proceedings because 
it helps to make the council more transparent and accountable to its local 
communities. 

If you wish to film or photograph the proceedings of a meeting and have any special 
requirements or are intending to bring in large equipment please contact the 
Communications Team at CommunicationsTeam@thurrock.gov.uk before the 
meeting. The Chair of the meeting will then be consulted and their agreement sought 
to any specific request made. 

Where members of the public use a laptop, tablet device, smart phone or similar 
devices to use social media, make recordings or take photographs these devices 
must be set to ‘silent’ mode to avoid interrupting proceedings of the council or 
committee. 

The use of flash photography or additional lighting may be allowed provided it has 
been discussed prior to the meeting and agreement reached to ensure that it will not 
disrupt proceedings. 

The Chair of the meeting may terminate or suspend filming, photography, recording 
and use of social media if any of these activities, in their opinion, are disrupting 
proceedings at the meeting. 

 

Thurrock Council Wi-Fi 

Wi-Fi is available throughout the Civic Offices. You can access Wi-Fi on your device 
by simply turning on the Wi-Fi on your laptop, Smartphone or tablet. 

 You should connect to TBC-CIVIC 

 Enter the password Thurrock to connect to/join the Wi-Fi network. 

 A Terms & Conditions page should appear and you have to accept these before 
you can begin using Wi-Fi. Some devices require you to access your browser to 
bring up the Terms & Conditions page, which you must accept. 

The ICT department can offer support for council owned devices only. 

Evacuation Procedures 

In the case of an emergency, you should evacuate the building using the nearest 
available exit and congregate at the assembly point at Kings Walk. 

How to view this agenda on a tablet device 

  

Page 2

mailto:CommunicationsTeam@thurrock.gov.uk


 

You can view the agenda on your iPad, Android Device or Blackberry 
Playbook with the free modern.gov app. 
 

 
Members of the Council should ensure that their device is sufficiently charged, 
although a limited number of charging points will be available in Members Services. 
 
To view any “exempt” information that may be included on the agenda for this 
meeting, Councillors should: 
 

 Access the modern.gov app 

 Enter your username and password 
 

 
 

Page 3

https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB


DECLARING INTERESTS FLOWCHART – QUESTIONS TO ASK YOURSELF 
 

Breaching those parts identified as a pecuniary interest is potentially a criminal offence 

 
Helpful Reminders for Members 
 

 Is your register of interests up to date?  

 In particular have you declared to the Monitoring Officer all disclosable pecuniary interests?  

 Have you checked the register to ensure that they have been recorded correctly?  

 
When should you declare an interest at a meeting? 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 What matters are being discussed at the meeting? (including Council, Cabinet, 

Committees, Subs, Joint Committees and Joint Subs); or  

 If you are a Cabinet Member making decisions other than in Cabinet what matter is 

before you for single member decision? 

Does the business to be transacted at the meeting  

 relate to; or  

 likely to affect  
any of your registered interests and in particular any of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interests?  
 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests shall include your interests or those of: 

 your spouse or civil partner’s 

 a person you are living with as husband/ wife 

 a person you are living with as if you were civil partners 

where you are aware that this other person has the interest. 
 
A detailed description of a disclosable pecuniary interest is included in the Members Code of Conduct at Chapter 7 of 

the Constitution. Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer about disclosable pecuniary interests. 

What is a Non-Pecuniary interest? – this is an interest which is not pecuniary (as defined) but is nonetheless so  
significant that a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard to be so significant 
that it would materially impact upon your judgement of the public interest. 

If the Interest is not entered in the register and is not the subject of a 
pending notification you must within 28 days notify the Monitoring Officer 
of the interest for inclusion in the register  

Unless you have received dispensation upon previous 
application from the Monitoring Officer, you must: 

- Not participate or participate further in any discussion of 
the matter at a meeting;  

- Not participate in any vote or further vote taken at the 
meeting; and 

- leave the room while the item is being considered/voted 
upon 

If you are a Cabinet Member you may make arrangements for 
the matter to be dealt with by a third person but take no further 

steps 

If the interest is not already in the register you must 
(unless the interest has been agreed by the Monitoring 

Officer to be sensitive) disclose the existence and nature 
of the interest to the meeting 

Declare the nature and extent of your interest including enough 
detail to allow a member of the public to understand its nature 

Non- pecuniary Pecuniary 

You may participate and vote in the usual 
way but you should seek advice on 
Predetermination and Bias from the 

Monitoring Officer. 

Page 4



 

PROCEDURE FOR MOTIONS 
 

 

No speech may exceed 3 minutes without the consent of the Mayor [Rule 19.8], except for the 
proposer of any motion who shall have 5 minutes to move that motion (except on a motion to 

amend where the 3 minute time shall apply) [Rule 19.8(a)] 

All Motions will follow Section A and then either Section B or C 
 

A. A1 Motion is moved     [Rule 19.2] 
A2 Mover speaks         [Rule 19.8(a) (5 minutes) 
A3 Seconded           [Rule 19.2]  
A4 Seconder speaks or reserves right to speak [Rule 19.3] (3 minutes) 
 
Then the procedure will move to either B or C below: 

B. 
 
IF there is an AMENDMENT (please 
see Rule 19.23) 

C. 
 
If NOT amended i.e. original motion 

B1 The mover of the amendment shall 
speak (3 mins). 

C1 Debate. 

B2 The seconder of the amendment 
shall speak unless he or she has 
reserved their speech (3 mins). 

C2 If the seconder of the motion has reserved 
their speeches, they shall then speak. 

B3 THEN debate on the subject. C3 The mover of the substantive motion shall 
have the final right of reply. 

B4 If the seconder of the substantive 
motion and the amendment 
reserved their speeches, they shall 
then speak.  

C4 Vote on motion. 

B5 The mover of the amendment shall 
have a right of reply.  

  

B6 The mover of the substantive 
motion shall have the final right of 
reply.  

  

B7 Vote on amendment.   

B8 A vote shall be taken on the 
substantive motion, as amended if 
appropriate, without further debate.  

  

 

 

 

 

Page 5



 

 

Our Vision and Priorities for Thurrock 

 

An ambitious and collaborative community which is proud of its heritage and excited by 
its diverse opportunities and future. 

 
 
1. People – a borough where people of all ages are proud to work and play, live and 

stay 

 

 High quality, consistent and accessible public services which are right first time 
 

 Build on our partnerships with statutory, community, voluntary and faith groups 
to work together to improve health and wellbeing  
 

 Communities are empowered to make choices and be safer and stronger 
together  

 
 
2. Place – a heritage-rich borough which is ambitious for its future 
 

 Roads, houses and public spaces that connect people and places 
 

 Clean environments that everyone has reason to take pride in 
 

 Fewer public buildings with better services 
 
 
 
3. Prosperity – a borough which enables everyone to achieve their aspirations 
 

 Attractive opportunities for businesses and investors to enhance the local 
economy 
 

 Vocational and academic education, skills and job opportunities for all 
 

 Commercial, entrepreneurial and connected public services 
 

Page 6



WW2 in Memoriam 
 

Remembering Thurrock’s Fallen : Civilian Deaths 
due to enemy action and Roll of Honour 

 
Today we share names on the Roll of Honour. These are people whose home 
address was shown as Thurrock who lost their lives during the Second World War 
whilst serving with the armed forces or merchant navy. 
 
In recognition of the adversity and bravery experienced by ordinary people in 
Thurrock civilian deaths are also noted here in relevant months. 101 non-combatants 
were killed in Thurrock between 1939 and 1945 who will also be remembered. 
 
A special thanks to Museum volunteer Pam Purkiss for compiling the Roll of Honour 
information. Civilians added by Valina Bowman-Burns from Thurrock Museum. 
 
The names have been listed in date order. 
 

October 1941 
 

RENDELL Kenneth Louis 
DRYDEN John A 
McCANN Joseph 

 

 
November 1941 

 
THOMAS Cyril D 

BULBICK George A 
HAYHOE George W W 

 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 
One question received from members of the public. 
 
 
1. From Mr Perrin to Councillor Jefferies 
 

I congratulate and thank the Council for its intention to plant flowers on grass 
verges. However, would you please confirm that the planting of flowers will 
apply to all grass verges throughout the borough not to just a few select 
areas? 

 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Petitions Update Report  
 
 

Petition 
No. 

Description Presented  
(date) 

Presented 
(by)  

Responsible 
Director 

Status   
 

552 Save The Thameside Complex - As published in 
the cabinet agenda and report released on the 
29 June, for discussion on the 7 July, the 
Thameside complex has been listed as a 
disposable asset. The Complex is home to a 
multitude of arts and cultural entities, including 
the theatre, Creative Blast, Performing Arts 
Studios, Thurrock Museum, Thames Delta 
Radio and the current Grays Library. The 
building is also host to tenants not mentioned in 
the report such as Transvol & Thurrock Lifestyle 
Solutions, who work through-out the 
Borough promoting equal rights for the disabled 
as well as the Cafe at the front of the 
building. Talking newspapers also has weekly 
meetings here, bringing the news to those 
unable to read a newspaper.  By closing the 
building and potentially losing the Theatre, we 
also lose local groups such as Thurrock Court 
Players and TOPS on stage who are frequent 
users of the theatre and the local Scouts who 
perform their annual Gang Show on the stage, 
as well as many, many other groups performers 
and dance schools both local and out of the 
Borough. According to the report published the 
Register Office is set to be relocated to the new 
Civic Offices extension, the library is also up for 
discussion of relocation. It would be a terrible 
shame to not only lose all of the arts and culture 
located in this building, but to lose a vital piece 
of local history. 

21/7/21 Council Karen 
Wheeler 

A response to the petition was 
provided on 23 August. 
 
A paper to Cabinet in July set out 
proposals for the disposal of Council 
owned assets including the 
Thameside Complex that are 
underused and / or not fit for 
purpose. The decision is in principal 
and concerns the building only and 
not the services. No decision has 
yet been made on the building and 
the Council is open to discussions 
with anyone about viable 
alternatives and options. The 
Thameside Theatre reopened on  
7 September and the Thurrock 
Museum reopened on  
14 September. We have confirmed 
Theatre bookings, including the 
Christmas panto which takes place 
through to January 2022 while both 
a final decision is made on the 
future of the Thameside Complex 
building and a new cultural strategy 
is developed. Members and Officers 
have commenced a process of 
engagement with local groups and 
wider stakeholders to discuss the 
theatre and museum, future delivery 
models and cultural services more 
generally.  

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 8



Petitions Update Report  
 

Petition 
No. 

Description Presented  
(date) 

Presented 
(by)  

Responsible 
Director 

Status   
 

 
As we come out of the pandemic, people need 
things to bring them joy, need to be able to 
laugh and smile, and have things to look forward 
too and the Thameside Complex can bring this 
to the community. 

   
To date (30/09/21) 16 meetings 
have taken place including three 
roundtable discussions with 
Thurrock Heritage Group (16 
external participants); Thurrock 
Museum Volunteers (8 external 
participants); and a group convened 
by Arts Thurrock with participants 
from across the arts and cultural 
sector (10 external participants 
including the petitioner). Officers will 
continue to work with partners to 
develop a new cultural strategy, a 
shared vision and priorities to 
support cultural regeneration across 
Thurrock. The positive effects of 
arts, culture and heritage on health 
and well-being, contribution to 
quality of life, and role in supporting 
economic growth is recognised. 

553 The petition is against the proposed sale of the 
6.8 acres of green fields opposite Cole Avenue, 
RM14 4JQ by Thurrock Council. 

21/7/21 Council Sean Clark Following petition and related 
member representations the Council 
is carefully considering with its 
external advisers the historic 
position of this site in order to 
ensure that all material factors are 
adequately managed. Whilst the 
review is ongoing, active steps to 
progress the sale of the site are 
paused. 

 

P
age 12





24 November 2021  ITEM: 10 

Council 

Assistant Director Children’s Social Care and Early Help 
Appointment 

Wards and communities affected:  

All 

Key Decision:  

Key 

Report of: Councillor Rob Gledhill, Leader of the Council 

Accountable Director: Sheila Murphy, Corporate Director Children’s Services 

This report is Public 

 
Executive Summary 
 
In accordance with the Constitutional requirements this report seeks approval from 
Council to appoint to the permanent Assistant Director Childrens Social Care and 
Early Help.  
 
Following a robust search and selection process, General Services Committee 
interviewed on 3 November 2021 and agreed to recommend the appointment of 
Janet Simon as Assistant Director Childrens Social Care and Early Help.   
 
1. Recommendation(s) 
 
1.1 To approve in accordance with the Council’s Constitution the 

appointment of Janet Simon as the permanent Assistant Director 
Childrens Social Care and Early Help. 

 
2. Introduction and Background 
 
2.1 The Assistant Director of Children’s Social Care and Early Help role became 

vacant in May 2021 following the resignation of the previous post holder. 
Since that time interim acting up arrangements have been in place.   

 
2.2 The post is a permanent existing position in the senior structure and critical to 

the delivery of key priorities and statutory activity for the Council.  
 
3. Assistant Director Children’s Social Care and Early Help 
 
3.1 Recruitment to the Assistant Director Children’s Social Care and Early Help 

role commenced in August 2021. The Council’s in-house resourcing team led 
the full search and selection campaign.  

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 10





3.2 This campaign attracted a total of twelve applicants which were initially 
assessed and longlisted by the Corporate Director Children’s Services, the 
Chief Executive and HR based on their applications with four candidates 
selected to progress to the next stage.  

 
3.3 Technical Assessments for the four candidates were conducted by an 

external independent expert on 24 September. Shortlisting by General 
Services Committee took place on 11 October, from the four candidates two 
were selected to progress to the Selection Day.  

 
3.4 Selection Day took place on 3 November with the remaining two candidates. 

Selection involved interviews with a stakeholder panel, young person’s panel 
and General Services Committee. The young person’s panel consisted of 3 
young people who live in the borough and was facilitated by Ashleigh Ryan, 
Resourcing Officer. The stakeholder panel consisted of: 

 

1 Sean Clark Corporate Director – Resources & Place Delivery 

2 Sarah Curtis SEND Lead – Gateway Learning Community 

3 Emma Barker Detective Chief Inspector – Essex Police 

4 Jenny Benet Specialist Child & Family social worker 

5 Gerard McCleave Assistant Director – Economic Growth & 
Partnerships 

6 Petra Black Head Teacher – Graham James Primary School 

7 Tsungai Makarawo Panel Facilitator and Resourcing Officer, 
Thurrock Council 

 
3.5 All the panels considered both candidates were appointable. General 

Services Committee recommendation is to appoint Janet Simon as the 
permanent Assistant Director of Children’s Social Care and Early Help.   

 
4. Reasons for Recommendation 
 
4.1 To appoint to this senior position to ensure the council fulfils statutory 

functions and requirements and has appropriate senior leadership in place to 
deliver critical services and ambitions. 

 
5. Consultation  
 
5.1 Appointment to this senior management position has been conducted by 

General Services Committee with the full engagement of key stakeholders. 
GSC recommends the candidate be approved by Full Council. 

 
  

Page 14





6. Implications 
 
6.1 Financial 

 
Implications verified by: Sean Clark  

 Corporate Director of Resources and Place 
Delivery 

 
This is a substantive post and is therefore included within the council’s core 
budgets. 
 

6.2 Legal 
 
Implications verified by:  Gina Clarke  

Corporate Governance Lawyer  

 
A local authority shall appoint such officers as it thinks necessary for the 
proper discharge by the authority of such of their functions (section 112 Local 
Government Act 1972). 
 
Under section 7 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, every 
appointment to a paid office or employment to a Council post must be made 
on merit. 
 
The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 and the 
Council’s Constitution, set out compulsory provisions relating to the 
appointment of chief officers and deputy chief officers. An offer of employment 
as a chief officer or deputy chief officer shall only be made where no well-
founded objection from any member of the executive has been received. 
 
In addition the proposed appointment must be made in accordance with the 
Council’s Pay Policy Statement.  
 

6.3 Diversity and Equality 
 
Implications verified by: Rebecca Lee 

 Team Manager Community Development & 
Equalities 

 
This appointment is recommended based on the council’s recruitment process 
which is underpinned by the council’s equal opportunity policy. 

 
 
Report Author: 
 
Jackie Hinchliffe 

Director of HR, OD and Transformation 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank





24 November 2021 ITEM: 11 

Council  

Political Assistants 

Wards and communities affected:  

Not Applicable.  

Key Decision:  

No 

Report of: Councillor R Gledhill, Leader of the Council  

Accountable Assistant Director: Not Applicable 

Accountable Director: Not Applicable 

This report is public 

 
Executive Summary 
 
This report outlines the details relating to the employment of political assistants to 
support identified political groups.  
 
1. Recommendation(s) 
 
1.1 That Full Council decide whether to employ political assistants to 

support the Conservative and Labour Groups (referred to in this report 
as the ‘qualifying groups’).  

 
1.2 If agreed, the Council, in consultation with group leaders effected, set 

out the contract terms and conditions for such posts in line with the 
statutory requirement for these posts.  

 
2. Introduction and Background 
 
2.1 On 17 October 2019 the General Services Committee received a report of the 

Leader of the Council entitled: ‘Review of Constitution and Process’. Part of 
this report recommended that political assistants be appointed to political 
groups with more than six members to aid in research and support. The 
General Services Committee resolved to defer a decision on this to allow 
further discussions to take place.  

 
2.2 Local authority political assistants are local government employees who 

undertake research and provide administrative support for the main political 
groups within an authority. The existence of these posts allows a separation 
of professional officer and political roles and can enable the provision of 
advice to councillors that local authority officers are prevented from providing. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 11





Part I of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 sets out the framework 
regulating the appointment and conduct of political assistants. 

 
2.3 Under section 2 of the 1989 Act, the post of political assistant in a local 

authority is politically restricted. This means that, like other politically restricted 
posts, the post-holder cannot stand for election, act as an election agent or 
sub-agent, be an officer of a political party, manage a party or branch of a 
party, and cannot canvass on behalf of a political party or candidate for 
election. Political advisers are, however, permitted to speak to the public with 
the intention of affecting support for a political party, but their actions must not 
give the impression that they are acting as the representative of the political 
party. Political advisers are also able to publish or cause to be published 
written work or other material intended to affect public support for a political 
party, but they must not give the impression that the publication is authorised 
by the political party. These rules were adopted to address concerns about 
political impartiality, conflict of interest and the use of taxpayer funds for 
political purposes in councils.  

 
3. Issues, Options and Analysis of Options 
 
3.1 The Local Government and Housing Act 1989, Section 9, sets out the rules 

and procedures governing the proper appointment of political assistants.  
 
3.2 It is for Full Council to decide whether qualifying political groups should be 

eligible for support from political assistants. The legislation limits the 
maximum number of political assistants for a council to three, allocated on the 
basis of one to each of the three largest groups who have a minimum of 10% 
of elected Councillors (in the Councils case 5). Therefore at present the 
Conservative and Labour groups only would qualify. 

 
3.3 The council is reforming the staff base to reflect the post pandemic situation. 

To help reduce the requirement for members to rely on existing officers for 
policy interpretation, this recommendation will provide members with a 
separate policy resource, outside of the current restricted officer corps, 
releasing them to spend more time delivering a leaner organisation. 

 
3.4  The employment of political assistants will have an impact on staffing budgets 

dependant on their agreed working hours, grading and other terms and 
conditions. If Members agree to employ political assistants then the Chief 
Executive will present an employment case through HR to be agreed by 
effected group leaders. Any appointed political assistants have some specific 
statutory terms in respect of their employment; their salary cannot exceed the 
spinal point 38 on the National Joint Council’s agreed pay scales (currently 
£40,760). Their contract of employment must terminate at or before the first 
annual council meeting after the person has been in post for 3 years where 
the council is elected by thirds. However, this does not prevent the post holder 
being reappointed for a further term after the reappointment is agreed at the 
annual council meeting. 

 

Page 18





4. Reasons for Recommendation 
  
4.1 Some Members have expressed, through the October 2019 report to General 

Services Committee that political assistants would help their political groups 
keep abreast of government policy better and improve their ability to engage 
with meetings and activities in the Council more fully.  

 
5. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable) 
 
5.1 Not applicable. 
 
6. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 

impact 
 
6.1 Arguably the employment of political assistants for the qualifying political 

groups in the council will allow them to prepare for and engage with council 
business at a more strategic and informed level, allowing them to ultimately 
become more efficient and effective representatives for their communities.   

 
7. Implications 
 
7.1 Financial 

 
Implications verified by: Sean Clark  

 Corporate Director of Resources and Place 
Delivery 

 
Reports to Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Committees in recent months 
have been clear on the financial difficulties that Thurrock Council is facing.  
Whilst significant progress has been made in balancing the budget for 
2022/23, there still remains a budget gap circa £3m with a further gap of circa 
£11m in 2023/24, both of which will require savings in the staffing budgets. 
 
The report sets out that the cost of each post could be as high as £40k but 
this will be circa £50k when various oncosts such as National Insurance, 
superannuation, licences, etc are added in.  As such, agreeing this report will 
increase the budget gaps by circa 100k and require further reductions in staff 
from other services. 
 

7.2 Legal 
 
Implications verified by: Ian Hunt 

 Assistant Director Law and Governance 
 
The appointment of Political Assistants for groups is a matter for consideration 
by Full Council, these posts are subject to specific statutory restrictions which 
relate to the way they operate and the terms of their employment, the report 
highlights these.  

Page 19





 
Recent Government Guidance (issued on the 11th October 2021) sets out the 
following considerations for the decision to appoint political assistants: 
 
“When considering how best to manage their resources, councils should be 
certain to take into account their use, potential use, or necessity of local 
authority political assistants. 
While these politically restricted advisers can provide elected members with a 
different perspective, offering the type of advice other council staff cannot, 
local authorities should remember that they are taxpayer-funded employees 
and should not be exempt from wider discussions about how to make the 
authority as efficient and effective as possible. 
All local authorities, and individual political groups themselves, should 
therefore have particular regard to financial considerations when determining 
the need for a political assistant.” 

 
7.3 Diversity and Equality 

 
Implications verified by: Roxanne Scanlon  

 Community Engagement and Project 
Monitoring Officer  

 
If the Council agreed to employ political assistants, they would receive the 
same benefits and conditions as other council staff. The recruitment process, 
as managed by HR, conforms to equalities legislation.  
 

7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health Inequalities, 
Sustainability, Crime and Disorder, or Impact on Looked After Children 
 
None. 

 
8. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 

on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright): 

 

 General Services Committee Agenda and Minutes – 17 October 2019. 
Available at www.thurrock.gov.uk 

 
9. Appendices to the report 
 

None. 
 
 
Report Author:  
 
Matthew Boulter 

Democratic Services Manager, Legal and Democratic Services  

Page 20





24 November 2021   ITEM: 12 

Council  

Report of the Cabinet Member for Central Services  

Report of: Councillor Jack Duffin, Cabinet Member for Central Services  

This report is public 

 
Introduction by Cabinet Member 
 
I am delighted to present to Council my first portfolio holder report as the Cabinet Member 
for Central Services. I would first like to acknowledge and thank all those staff working in 
what is considered the ‘back-office roles’ of Thurrock Council who worked, and continue to 
work, tirelessly through the global pandemic to ensure our essential functions remained in 
place that were visible to both residents and other colleagues.   
 
My portfolio covers a diverse range of areas that not only have their own exciting projects 
but also support those in other areas. The last few months has seen some key activities 
take place: 
 

 a Scrutiny-Executive Protocol for managing scrutiny comments at Cabinet has been 
implemented; 

 the Local and Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner elections were delivered in a 
COVID-19 safe environment; 

 our customer contact centre not only gained Customer Contact Association (CCA) 
Global Standard version 7 but they have remained fully operational throughout the 
pandemic whilst also absorbing Thurrock Coronavirus Community Action (TCCA) 
telephone calls until very recently; 

 we have successfully delivered Thurrock On-Line using a new platform that enables 
our residents to have a quicker and more efficient way to interact with us; 

 commencing with the Civic Offices, good progress has been made with our Smarter 
Working programme: enabling staff to work in a more mobile and collaborative style 
using mobile technology combined with workplace re-configuration. This is to create 
a modern working environment whilst freeing up existing office space that can 
accommodate other service relocations and/or partner/commercial opportunities; 

 we continue to implement Oracle Cloud so that we remain a modern business with 
the enhanced functionality to monitor budgets and establishments; 

 and the new communications strategy 2021-24 has been agreed. This sets out the 
approach the council will take over the next three years to ensure that 
communications activity aligns with and supports the vision and priorities of the 
council. 
  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 12





VISION, STRATEGY and CORPORATE PERFORMANCE  
 
 SERVICE OVERVIEW 
 
This part of my portfolio is primarily concerned with the council’s vision and priorities and 
ensuring the council is delivering against those priorities and objectives through the 
corporate performance framework. 
 
 REVIEW OF PREVIOUS 12 MONTHS 
 
The vision and corporate priorities were agreed by Council in January 2018 and remain 
highly relevant for Thurrock. Cabinet have agreed the main areas of focus and activity 
for 2021/22 that will help to deliver against the overall vision and priorities. These 
include the refresh of the Health and Well Being Strategy, delivering Backing Thurrock 
– Economic Growth Strategy, progressing the Local Plan, delivering Thames Freeport 
with partners, transforming service delivery and embedding the collaborative 
community’s framework. 
 
There is a lot of work going on across the council to ensure existing and emerging 
strategies interlink, for instance the refresh of the Health and Well Being Strategy and 
the Backing Thurrock Strategy both focus on addressing inequalities in the lives of 
residents both in terms of health but also the wider determinants of health and well-
being, such as access to jobs, housing, skills, transport, open spaces, all of which 
contribute to the levelling up of opportunities within our borough.  
 
The performance of the priority activities of the council is monitored through the 
Corporate KPI (Key Performance Indicator) framework. The indicators are reviewed 
every year and have been chosen to be as clear and simple to understand as possible, 
whilst balancing the need to ensure the council is monitoring those things which are of 
most importance, both operationally and strategically. 
 
2020/21 was a challenging year. Of that there is no doubt - and many services and 
therefore performance indicators were directly or indirectly impacted by the pandemic and 
the enforced changes to council services in line with government guidance during this 
period. The end of year outturn for 2020/21 showed 63% of indicators achieved their target 
and 52% were better than or the same as the outturn for 2019/20. This is understandably 
lower than the 2019/20 outturns of 74% achieving target and 60% improved direction of 
travel.  
 
During the first three months of 2021/22, the country was still experiencing a range of 
lockdown restrictions which has continued to impact some areas in different ways. It is 
difficult to predict accurately how long and to what extent service delivery in those areas 
which are still being impacted will continue. This is being further affected by the need to 
mitigate against the wider capacity and financial pressures which COVID-19 has brought 
about, including the need to hold vacant posts and the ongoing recruitment restrictions as 
well as transformational changes to the way services are delivered. I, along with my 
Cabinet and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee colleagues, will continue to keep 
this under close monitoring and I will continue to present performance reports on a 
quarterly basis.  
 

Page 22





The council does not just measure itself by statistics alone. And we continue to see many 
of the council’s services, projects and individuals recognised locally, regionally and 
nationally. In the last 12 months this has included the Micro-enterprise Programme, Head 
Start Housing, Purfleet-on-Thames Regeneration, Alma Court and Counter Fraud. A full 
list of the awards which the council has won or been shortlisted for can be found at 
www.thurrock.gov.uk/how-we-are-doing/awards.  
 
 FUTURE 
 
The governance for the corporate performance framework is embedded and as such this 
approach will be continued throughout 2021/22. This governance is multi-layered – 
individual teams, lead officers, Directors, portfolio holders and member scrutiny through 
the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet work programme.  
 

CUSTOMER SERVICES  
 
 SERVICE OVERVIEW 

 
This part of the portfolio includes all front line customer contact including the contact 
centre, careline, out-of-hours, cashiers, registrars and face to face customer services on 
the ground floor of the Civic Offices (the face to face service has not been in operation 
since the start of the coronavirus pandemic in March 2020).  
  
REVIEW OF PREVIOUS 12 MONTHS 
 

The past 12 months has been very challenging but the Customer Services Department 
have really risen to the challenge, managing to keep the contact centre fully operational 
from 8am to 6pm throughout the entire COVID-19 period.  In addition, the contact centre 
also took responsibility for the TCCA call handling from June 2020 until September 2021. 
This was a great success and meant we were able to provide further support for our most 
vulnerable residents throughout this period. 
 
We have also managed to maintain a fully operational careline 24/7- 365 days, along with 
the out of hour’s service for the council throughout the whole COVID-19 period. There has 
been no detrimental impact on service and additional calls have been made to vulnerable 
residents throughout the period to provide enhanced support during this difficult time.      
 
Our performance was again recognised externally with accreditation of the CCA 
(Customer Contact Association) Global Standard version 7 in November 2020 with our 
next assessment due in January 2022. This standard was achieved again with no non 
conformances identified and an excellent audit report.  
 
The service has still managed to provide a full contact centre service throughout the entire 
pandemic period, providing support for our vulnerable customers by helping them to 
complete benefit applications etc. over the telephone and providing reassurance for 
situations where they would have previously visited the offices.  
    
The contact centre homeworking technology solution has been working extremely 
well and the majority of contact centre advisors now work from home very 
successfully.   
 

Page 23

http://www.thurrock.gov.uk/how-we-are-doing/awards




The COVID-19 period has been challenging for the Registration Service. The service not 
only registers and issues certificates for all births, deaths, marriages and civil partnerships 
which occur in the Thurrock district, but also conducts a number of ceremonies. COVID-19 
resulted in closure and a reduction in these services for many months, in line with the 
government guidance, however bookings are back to normal and residents are 
comfortable now booking these major life events.  The aim is to maintain our 100% good 
or excellent satisfaction rating previously achieved and hopefully identify some other 
excellent approved premises for weddings throughout the area. We also hope to attract 
additional business when the service moves into the new civic offices extension in the near 
future.      
 
 FUTURE 
 
We will develop a new customer services strategy for 2022-25. We aim to build on the 
success of working without a full face to face Customer Services offering in the Civic 
Offices and are reviewing our face to face service delivery model. We will of course 
ensure that we continue to support our most vulnerable residents.   We are also working 
on further digital enhancements such as generic mailbox integration for query handling, 
automation opportunities where high call volumes exist, exploring the use of chat bots or 
Artificial Intelligence (AI) where clear customer benefits can be identified, along with 
further integration with existing platforms. We will continue to explore channel migration 
opportunities to maximise the use of our digital channels wherever possible and enabling 
residents to access council services online and when it is more convenient for them.  
 
In addition we are planning a campaign to further promote our digital service so that our 
other channels can be used for those people that really need our support    
 
Throughout 2021/22 the team is continuing to complete customer services quality 
assessments with other services utilising the framework to help guide and implement 
actions to improve customer service delivery across all council departments. We are also 
working on quality reviews across various channels such as generic email boxes, 
telephone calls and correspondence sent from various departments outside of the contact 
centre, to ensure a consistent level of customer service is being provided   
 
 

COMMUNICATIONS  
 

 SERVICE OVERVIEW 
 

This portfolio covers the council’s communications functions including media liaison 
(proactive and reactive), social media, digital communications, campaigns, design and 
the council’s website as well as internal communication with staff. 
 
 

 REVIEW OF PREVIOUS 12 MONTHS 
 

COVID-19  
 
The COVID-19 pandemic continued to be a key focus of the work of the team throughout 
most of the past year. At the beginning of 2021, Thurrock had the highest rate of positive 
tests for COVID-19 in the country and a full range of communications activity was quickly 
rolled out to both combat this and communicate details of the latest national lockdown, 

Page 24





including increasing the frequency of the resident e-newsletter to twice weekly reaching 
over 100,000 at its peak. This was then followed by further crucial locally focused public 
health campaigns and information on various testing requirements as they progressed, the 
vaccination roll out and the Government’s roadmap out of lockdown which is ongoing. 
 

Internal communications has continued to be critically important during the pandemic, 
ensuring all staff have the latest advice and guidance as well as support available. We 
have continued to use the weekly #TeamThurrock e-newsletter as well as introducing a 
new Smarter Working e-newsletter to inform staff of change taking place across the 
council through redesigning our workspace and introducing new technology. 
 
Digital communications 
 
The council’s approach to digital communications continues to develop in line with public 
preferences for consuming news and information. E-newsletters continue to be a valuable 
channel for reaching residents directly with key information and updates. The council’s 
engagement on social media continues to grow and responses on council posts are 
increasingly positive, particularly on posts which are of community interest. The 
communications team manage social media accounts for the council and specific council 
services on Facebook, Twitter, Instagram and LinkedIn. The LinkedIn account in particular 
has grown substantially in the past year with an increase in followers and engagement 
rates across all posts. Facebook continues to be the most popular social media channel in 
Thurrock and content is specifically tailored for sharing on different social media channels 
to maximise engagement with target audiences.  
 
Media relations  
 
The council continues to manage all media enquires as well as a schedule of pro-active 
activity including securing over a dozen interviews in broadcast media during the past 
year. In total, the communications team dealt with 364 media enquiries in the past 12 
months and issued 284 proactive press-releases during this time.  
 
Campaigns  
 
The communications team have led on the development of many campaigns throughout 
the past year, all of which linked directly to achieving the council’s and specific service 
priorities, including on topics such as major regeneration and infrastructure projects, fuel 
poverty, scams awareness, rent support, highways and recycling. All campaigns have 
specific and measurable objectives so they can be fully evaluated and their impact 
quantified.  
 
The team have used a wide range of communications channels and techniques to support 
the successful bids for the Grays and Tilbury Towns fund and the Thames Freeport.  
 

 FUTURE 
 
A new three year communications strategy 2021-24 communications team has been 
agreed which focuses on three key areas: a strategic approach, brand recognition and 
direct digital communications. This strategy was informed by a Local Government 
Association (LGA) virtual peer review referred to as a ‘communications health check’ as 
well as an independently conducted research into how residents find out news and 
information about the council.  

Page 25





 
The work of the communications team in the coming 12 months will focus on achieving the 
objectives of this strategy and major new campaigns will be launching in the coming 
months on economic growth, recycling and fostering as well as further enhancements to 
digital communications including increased use of video content.  
 
I encourage all Councillors to sign-up for our e-newsletters and follow our social media 
channels to keep up to date on the wide ranging work the council is doing.  
 
 

CORPORATE PROGRAMME TEAM (TRANSFORMATION) 
 
 SERVICE OVERVIEW 

 
The Corporate Programme Team is responsible for the delivery of the council’s Corporate 
Transformation Programme. This ambitious programme has been reviewed and refreshed 
this year to align and prioritise programmes and projects to support new operating models, 
deliver costs reductions and efficiencies and drive digital solutions. 
 
The programme comprises of five Executive Portfolios: 
 

 Digital  

 People  

 Data & Demand  

 Community & Collaboration  

 Assets 
 

The programmes and projects range from enhancing the way residents interact digitally 
with the council through to rationalising our assets to help reduce the operational footprint 
of the organisation whilst supporting a more mobile workforce.  
 
A new governance structure is supporting the delivery plan and ensuring 
interdependencies are managed appropriately.  
 
 REVIEW OF PREVIOUS 12 MONTHS 
 
Thurrock On-Line 
 
The new govService platform was implemented in January 2021, which replaced the old 
My Account service.   
 
Since go-live back in January over 31,000 residents have signed up and over 12,000 
reports or applications have been submitted using the new digital forms. 
 
The initial go-live included services that allowed customers to: 
 

 Manage their council tax account, from setting up a direct debit to reporting a 
change of address 

 Apply for benefits or tell us about a change 

 Report issues – for example, fly tipping or a missed bin collection 

Page 26





 Book a bulky waste collection  
 
New online application forms have been developed for: 
 

 Household waste and recycling centre permits 

 Temporary event notices 

 Taxi licensing – new driver, vehicle, operator, change of details, notice of transfer 

 Street trading 

 Business rates refund 
 
During the various COVID-19 lockdown restrictions our physical front doors may have had 
to remain closed to the public but our “digital front doors” remained wide open for business – 
and will continue to do so.  
 
Smarter Working 
 
Building on the acceleration achieved as a result of the COVID-19 lockdown the Smarter 
Working Programme focused on three key areas of activity: 
 

 Technology 

 Workspace 

 Culture 
 
This approach to embracing new ways of working has enabled us to redesign and deliver 
a new office environment that provides collaborative space, supported by mobile 
equipment and a Digital Academy to enhance digital skills.    
 
The programme has resulted in a 50% reduction in the council’s existing Civic Offices 
‘office space’, enabled staff to work more flexibly and freed up CO1 for disposal. In 
addition the ‘hybrid’ technology that has been implemented enables the new ways of 
working to be sustained and the efficiencies embedded. 
 
Civic Offices 
 
Despite industry-wide constraints as a result of the pandemic and Brexit, works are well 
established regarding the construction of a new Civic Office building in Grays. The new 
building forms part of the Grays regeneration programme and its west facing entrance will 
link perfectly with the planned north/south underpass. It will be a modern, technologically 
advanced, eco-friendly building that meets BREEAM Outstanding rating and one that, not 
only replaces the outdated original Civic Office (C01), but sets a benchmark for quality as 
other developments come forward in the Town Centre. 
 
When completed, in early 2022, it will host a new Registrar’s area, including a ceremonial 
garden, together with vibrant and modern democratic facilities. Plus a new café area and a 
section of the building that is dedicated to supporting our most vulnerable residents.  
 
Digital Efficiency Review (DER) 
 
DER is one of the key projects that sits under the ‘people’ portfolio of the Transformation 
programme and seeks to: 
 

Page 27





 Reduce administrative / transactional workforce headcount  

 Achieve £2million salary saving over two years 

 Embed generic job descriptions associated with job families  

 Embed a digital by default, innovative workforce  

 Improve and rationalise processes 

 Be digital by default 

 Create efficiencies 

 Remove duplication 

 Paperless by default 

 Rationalise business support across leadership and management tiers 
 

The project started in September 2021 and to date good progress has been made 
identifying all transactional activity across the organisation. Our business analysts and IT 
teams are working to re-engineer processes and identify digital solutions for 
implementation that will create efficiencies and savings. 
 
 FUTURE 
 
Innovation and new ways of working are constantly on our radar in order to deliver the best 
possible services to the residents and businesses of Thurrock. Over the coming year we will 
continue to focus our Corporate Transformation Programme on the delivery of the 
transformational projects that will optimise efficiency and shape the council.  
 
Improvement initiatives include: 
 

 Business Process Improvement, which includes:  
o Business process re-engineering 
o Process Automation A/I 

 Citizen Channels, which includes: 
o Thurrock On Line 
o Simplifying access to services 

 Data Platform integration & Business Intelligence, which includes: 
o Capturing information once  
o Optimizing assessments 
o Data analysis 

 Workforce optimisation, which includes: 
o Smarter Working 
o The Digital Efficiency Review (DER) 
o Digital collaboration using MS 365 

 Asset rationalisation, which includes: 
o Comprehensive Asset Review 
o Civic Offices reconfiguration 
o Library/Hubs review 

 
Thurrock On-Line 
 
The new platform will be used to digitise more of our services, thereby increasing our self-
service offer to our residents.  It will also be used to migrate some of our existing e-forms, 
thus creating a consistent user experience when making applications or reporting issues to 
the council. 

Page 28





 
Work that is currently in progress includes: 
 

 Premises licensing  

 Various licensing applications which fall under the Licensing Act 

 Skip permits 

 Building control applications 
 

This project will link with a number of other improvement initiatives, such as DER for 
example, to ensure that we streamline, or ideally automate, back-end processes to ensure 
that customers receive an effective outcome in the timeliest manner. 
 

Data Analytics, Process Automation and Artificial Intelligence 
 
Unsurprisingly, the pandemic made organisations across many sectors realise the true 
value of the data they have access to and how quickly they can react to what it’s telling 
them.  
 
Learning from previous successes with regards to data visioning we will primarily focus on 
further developing an integrated data platform that will ultimately give us to access to data 
that resides across disconnected business applications. Delivering: 
 

 Greater insight into trends to help forecast demand on services 

 The ability to understand better, and react more effectively, to our resident’s needs 

 The capability to gain Business Intelligence across the whole organisation and to 

speed up assessment overheads 

 
Recent research confirms that data’s role in transformation is very much seen as a key 
enabler among councils: yet many continue to grapple with joining the dots up across 
multiple, disparate data sources. So we are not alone in this ambition – and certainly further 
ahead than may other organisations. 
 
 

HUMAN RESOURCES & ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT  
 
 SERVICE OVERVIEW 

 
The focus of HR & OD is to ensure the council has the high performing, engaged and 
confident workforce it needs to deliver excellent services and positive outcomes to our 
residents. The service consists of: 
 

 HR, Resourcing and Improvement – ensuring the council is effectively resourced with 
the right people to deliver services to residents and providing the employment 
framework for excellent people management. 

 Pay & Operations – ensuring staff are paid appropriately and the council complies with 
appropriate legislation and statutory requirements. 

 People & Organisational Development – ensuring our workforce is equipped with the 
skills, knowledge and behaviours needed to deliver the council’s priorities and the 
organisation embraces change. 

 

Page 29





Activity and interventions are aligned to deliver the council’s People Strategy which is 
focused on embedding the council’s six core values: 

 

 Ambitious 

 Compassionate 

 Empowered 

 Collaborative 

 Inclusive 

 Proud 
 
and our ambition to create a high performing, open and inclusive culture where innovation 
and creativity is encouraged and nurtured.  
 
 REVIEW OF PREVIOUS 12 MONTHS 
 
Workforce Strategy  
 
The financial challenges facing the council have required a focus on the optimum use of 
resources, including our workforce. Our Smarter Working programme along with our drive 
for new operating models through transformation require a clear workforce plan to ensure 
we retain the people and skills we need, rationalise where we can automate and protect 
front line services and reskill our staff for the future. The initial phase of our Workforce 
Strategy has enabled us to: 
 

 Reduce FTE by restricting recruitment to business critical roles  

 Deliver cashable savings through vacancies and reduction in agency spend 

 Ensure the organisation has and retains the right skills and capabilities 

 Protect our current staff as much as possible 
 
Pay Review 
 
Following on from the successful delivery of Phase 1 of the Pay Review, which saw 
significant investment in our pay structure and salaries, we have made progress with 
Phase 2. This is focused on the modernisation of our allowances, reducing costs and 
enabling us to apply a universal approach to reward. This year we have: 
 

 Undertaken an eligibility review of Business User Allowance and shift allowance 
payments  

 Run a comprehensive collective consultation process with Trade Unions and staff 
which has resulted in Unison and Unite the Union members agreeing the final 
proposals 

 Worked with the service to bring a conclusion to the industrial action in Waste. 
 
Organisational Design 
 
Critical for Transformation the team have supported the organisation in the development 
of new Target Operating Models (TOMs). These have embedded principles that enable 
services to challenge and consider options for service delivery, including management 
structures, digital solutions and spans of control. 
 

Page 30





Organisational Culture 
 
Organisational culture is critical to our success, the way we do things is the ultimate 
determinate of how we treat our customers. This year we have: 
 

 Continue to embed new working practices to support Smarter Working  

 Embedded change management processes to support organisational change and 
transformation including an active network of change champions 

 Maintained our Wellbeing offer, promoting health and wellbeing and ensuring staff are 
supported - effectively managing sickness absence and supporting mental health 

 
Confidence & Capacity 
 
In aiming to have the best workforce and the most exciting opportunities for staff we 
have: 
 

 Continued to develop online communities covering a range learning activities to 
support staff development 

 Delivered a range of health & wellbeing, Leadership, communication, personal 
development and technology activities 

 Increased skills and capability by delivering a range of different learning and 
development events in the past 12 months  

 449 learning activities delivered through face to face, virtual and self-paced learning & 
development  – 7517 attendances for the whole year  

 2834 completed at least one learning activity over the last 12 months 

 138 learners across Oracle learning communities in place to support COVID-19 
 
Oracle Cloud 
 

Oracle Cloud provides a modern system which will underpin business transformation and 
improvement across HR & OD and the wider Council. Oracle went live on 1 April 2019 
and the team have consolidated processes to improve efficiency through automated 
transactions, improved employee and manager experience, whilst supporting change 
across the organisation. The Oracle Improvement Project has continued to resource test 
and implement enhanced functionality through new modules, upgrades and fixes.  
 

 Fully integrated HMRC Real Time Information (RTI) automation for submissions and 
returns 

 Enhances to HR Helpdesk including better reporting and customer experience 

 Fixes to annual leave giving greater flexibility to book leave and multi assignment  

 A new Elections payroll allowing this payroll to move “in-house” from Rochford 
Council 

 Review Employee Positions to enhance budget and establishment control 
 
Once fully functional Oracle will provide: 
 

 Enhanced business intelligence to support workforce planning and talent 
management  

 Improved Employee Self Service through an app 

 Improved Manager Self Service and dashboards 

 Efficiency in internal processes supports improved customer service  

Page 31





 
By enhancing our internal digital transformation this supports the targeting of resourcing 
to resident facing services. 

 
 FUTURE 
 
Key priorities for the year ahead include: 
 

 Pay Review Phase 2 – finalise the review of our reward and benefits package to 
further modernise our approach and ensure an inclusive approach. 

 Support organisational change and transformation through effective workforce 
planning – ensuring we have the right people to deliver the council’s priorities 

 Continue to embed new ways of working, ensuring individuals are supported and 
outcomes managed. 

 Talent management – embed talent management and succession to support effective 
workforce and career planning 

 Deliver the second year priorities within the People Strategy  

 Continue to build a culture of utilising digital solutions to support the organisational 
transformation. 

 Continue with the Oracle Improvement Project including: 
o Overtime Self Service (OTL) 
o New Recruitment Module (ORC) 
o Integration between Matrix SCM and Oracle 
o Implementation of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) and 

Teacher’s pension functionality to meet new pension legislation  
o Improved Employee Helpdesk with seeded Robotic Process Automation (RPA)  
o Embed Employee and Manager Self Service to realise benefits and efficiencies 

and underpin business transformation 

 
 
INFORMATION TEAM 
 
 SERVICE OVERVIEW 
 
This team is responsible for ensuring compliance with information governance regulations, 
including information security (policies and procedures), Data Protection, Freedom of 
Information (FOI), Records Management, Complaints and Geographical Information 
Systems (GIS) including Local Land & Property Gazetteer (LLPG) / Local Street Gazetteer 
(LSG). 
 
 
 REVIEW OF PREVIOUS 12 MONTHS 
 
During 2020/21: 
 

 The council processed 99% of Freedom of Information (FOI) requests within the 20 
working day legal timeframe. This is improved performance compared to the previous 
year. The Information Commissioner expect public authorities to answer at least 90% 
on time  

Page 32





 The council continue to ensure data is identified for routine publication online. This 
work forms part of the Transparency Agenda and aims to increase openness and 
accountability 

 The council received 84 Subject Access Requests under the Data Protection 
Legislation. 99% of these requests were processed within the legal timeframe. 
Requests have increased significantly following changes to the Data Protection Act, 
however performance remains strong 

 The volume of complaints reduced by 14% compared to last year. Upheld complaints 
also reduced by 7%. 88% of complaints were responded to within timeframe. A total of 
3,948 member enquiries were received, with 95% responded to within timeframe. The 
average time taken to respond to members enquiries across all directorates was 4 
days 

 Member enquiries continue to require significant capacity and resources, therefore we 
need to continue to drive the use of the appropriate digital methods for reporting 
issues. Member enquiries should operate as an escalation where normal processes 
have failed 

 The number of complaints stages was reduced from a three staged process to two. 
This links in with our customer services strategy of getting it right first time 

 
 FUTURE 
 

The focus for the team over the next year will be: 
 

 Driving a learning from complaints culture with robust learning action plans across 
council services 

 To implement changes and to evidence accountability as part of the Data Protection 
Act requirements 

 To reduce the number of physical records located at off-site storage locations 

 To introduce a range of smarter/digital working initiatives to improve service delivery  
 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT  
 

Internal Audit is an independent assurance function that primarily operates in accordance 
with best practice professional standards and guidelines. It reviews on a continuous basis, 
the extent to which the internal control environment supports and promotes the 
achievement of the council’s objectives, and contributes to the proper, economic, efficient 
and effective use of resources. 
 

 REVIEW OF PREVIOUS 12 MONTHS 
 

The Chief Internal Auditor’s Annual Report, which was presented to members of the 
Standards & Audit Committee in July 2021, confirmed the council’s frameworks for 
governance, risk management and internal control were all positive. The Internal Audit 
team has provided regular progress reports to the Standards and Audit Committee on the 
work carried out and highlighted any key findings throughout the year. 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 33





 

 FUTURE 
 

The Internal Audit 3 year Strategy 2020/21 to 2022/23 and Annual Plan 2020/21 was 
developed in early 2020 following a comprehensive audit needs assessment which was 
undertaken with senior managers across the council. In addition, a separate audit needs 
assessment was carried out to develop a specialist IT audit programme. 

 

The strategy and plan take into account the key risks identified within the council’s 
Corporate Risk Register, External Auditor’s Annual Audit and the Annual Governance 
Statement and was agreed at Standards & Audit Committee in March 2021. As part of this 
process, it was agreed that a six month plan would be developed to provide additional 
flexibility, which would assist the service in reacting to changing priorities and working 
arrangements brought about by the pandemic. 

 

New audit working papers software is being implemented during 2021/22 which is more 
user-friendly and will standardise the audit approach when undertaking reviews. This will 
improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the team and lead to increased outputs. 
 
 

LEGAL SERVICES 
 
The Legal Services directorate includes the legal services team, democratic services, 
Members’ services and electoral services. 
 
 REVIEW OF PREVIOUS 12 MONTHS 
 

The Legal Services team has continued to work across the council supporting the delivery 
of legal advice and support to all teams. There are strong working relationships with a 
range of key teams where high volumes of core work are handled. 
 
The team continues to evolve its services working with other services across the council 
to support the delivery of corporate projects and programs.   
  
 FUTURE 
 
The team moved its case management systems to a locally hosted service improving 
resilience and has maintained its annual reaccreditation with Lexcel the legal practice 
management standard. Robust practice management is a key factor in delivering 
excellence in legal services, retaining good legal talent and consequently giving 
reassurance to our residents.  
 
Thurrock Legal Services will continue as an in-house team addressing principally the 
needs of Thurrock Council. This will be beneficial to the community as will give continuity 
in service provision and stability for the specialist teams such as children in care. We are 
supporting a robust legal team to protect vulnerable residents, to prosecute planning 
violations and environmental enforcement including against fly tippers.  
 

 
 

Page 34





 
 
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
 
Democratic Services has faced a challenging year ensuring that committee meetings and 
their decisions continued under the lockdown restrictions. The COVID-19 Bill allowed 
meetings to continue in a virtual space and the team were able to use MS Teams to hold 
all virtual meetings for committees. It is testament to the team’s hard work that the 
committee function of the council continued throughout the period with little disruption to 
decision making outcomes. In tandem with this the team has worked with the external 
company, Public-i, to enhance the technology already installed in the Council Chamber to 
offer a hybrid meeting service whereby meetings can be held using both a physical and 
virtual space.  
 
Outside of the immediate needs created by the COVID-19 outbreak, the team has 
managed the recent review of the Overview and Scrutiny function, led by the Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, to make a number of recommendations which were 
agreed at Cabinet. The team is now working to embed these recommendations into the 
day to day practices of overview and scrutiny committees. These changes include a 
Scrutiny-Executive Protocol for managing scrutiny comments at Cabinet, the use of 
briefing notes to manage business and the revival of portfolio holder sessions at scrutiny 
committees.  
 
 

ELECTORAL AND MEMBER SERVICES 
  
It was a busy year this year for Electoral Services. The team delivered Local and Police, 
Fire and Crime Commissioner Elections in a COVID-19 safe environment. 
 
2021 would ordinarily have been a fallow year (i.e. no local elections were due to be held) 
but the team ran the rescheduled elections from 2020.  PPE was rolled out to all the 
polling stations, count and postal vote opening to ensure everyone was kept safe.  
Processes were changed accordingly to ensure all the current government guidelines 
were being met with weekly meetings with public health and health and safety taking 
place to ensure nothing was missed.  Staffing was a challenge with people needing to 
isolate at short notice but all polling stations had the required staff to operate according to 
legislation and in COVID-19 safe environment.  The count had reduced staff due to the 
need of social distancing but everything ran smoothly and results were announced for the 
Local election in the early hours on the 7 May 2021.  The count for the Police, Fire and 
Crime Commissioner took place on the Saturday once again with reduced staff to allow 
for social distancing. 
 
The statutory annual canvass commenced in July 2021. As a result of Canvass Reform 
the canvass process is more streamlined and now utilises a matching process with both 
data from the Department of Work and Pensions and local council tax and housing data. 
This means those householders (82%) whose details matched do not need to respond if 
their details are correct, as printed on the form. Canvassers were employed to deliver the 
initial forms to properties and are out now door knocking to encourage the outstanding 
non responding properties to respond. The revised register is due for publication on 1 
December 2021, subject to further legislation.  

Page 35





 
The Member Services team continue to support elected members remotely, ensuring that 
any office-based work is undertaken in a timely manner. 
 
The team have recently successfully delivered a Freedom of the Borough Ceremony and a 
celebratory Mayor Making event, which saw three long-standing clergyman from Thurrock 
receive this prestigious award and welcomed Cllr Shinnick as Mayor and Cllr Halden as 
Deputy Mayor. 
 
Preparations are underway for the forthcoming Civic Dinner in April 2022 and the Mayor 
recently hosted an Afternoon Tea and raised hundreds of pounds for her chosen charities. 
A further charity event evening at Puttshack is being finalised. 
 
 FUTURE 
 
Planning for the May 2022 local elections. The team is currently reviewing procedures for 
scheduled events in light of Covid-19. This includes planning for Remembrance Day, the 
Mayor’s Civic Dinner in April 2021 to commemorate the end of the Mayor’s term in office 
and thinking ahead to ways in which Annual Council may be facilitated.  
 
 

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 
 

The IT department provides the technical infrastructure, functionality, governance and 
support to enable the council to work effectively. 
 
Dealing with 3,000 requests per month the service is responsible for providing the council 
with IT Services that enable people and systems to work effectively. 
 
 REVIEW OF PREVIOUS 12 MONTHS 
 
New ways of working 
 
The service have continued to adapt the way we work as a team to enable new models of 
support for remote working. We have invested in more resilience of our infrastructure to 
enable staff to use the Always on Virtual Private Network (AOVPN) technology that is 
more reliable and enables staff to take advantage of the MS Teams technology we have 
made available to support new ways of working. 
 
MS365 
   
Originally providing the foundation and technology to support remote working in lockdown 
the MS365 project will be a core component of the council’s transformation programme. 
We have been developing the next phase of the M365 rollout which will include OneDrive, 
MS Planner, Sharepoint, MSForms and Office 2019. There have been a number of 
engagement sessions with the wider business and technical experts and there are two 
pilots currently underway that will complete in October. As part of the implementation the 
council will move its document management system away from Objective. Procurement of 
technology to integrate our telephony system will facilitate increased smarter working. 
 
 

Page 36





 
Projects 
 

In addition to the above the service has delivered a number of other key projects over the 
last year, many aimed directly at providing more effective, efficient services for residents, 
some of which are highlighted below:  
 

 Local Full Fibre Network (LFFN), the team have been responsible for procuring a 
pan Essex LFFN solution. Phase 1 funded from £4.4m DCMS LFFN Grant 
completed on time, budget and scope, with connection of 129 Public Sector Sites 
across Association of South Essex Local Authorities (ASELA), and rollout of Circa 
130Km of spine fibre.   

 Upgrades to the contact centre software platform to latest version, providing new 
reporting features and bug fixes. In addition we have added a new channel so that 
tickets can be logged via email functionality 

 Added resilience to our backup solution  with offline/immutable backups in the cloud 
that enhances our protection against ransomware attacks  

 Put in place hybrid meeting rooms to take advantage of the MS Teams solution the 
council are using 

 Provision of council laptops for all members 

 IT have contributed to the technology work stream of the Smarter Working project 
by ensuring that staff have the right tools to do their job effectively. We now have in 
excess of 1,900 users who have work supplied laptops and mobile phones. In 
addition to this we have supplied equipment such as monitors, keyboards and mice 
to make staff home working conditions more comfortable 

 Using remote tools we have successfully upgraded the operating system on all 
laptops  

 We have delivered our first robotic process automation process into Revenues and 
Benefits which will save 800 hours per year 

 Assisted with the technology side of the move of Thurrock Adult Community College 
from bridge road 
 

 

 FUTURE 
 

The next 12 months will be equally challenging as we continue to support the council’s 
drive for smarter working and continue to support the council’s corporate transformation 
progamme by delivering a number of digital projects. Outlined below are some of the key 
projects that are planned for delivery over the coming year, which will have a direct, 
positive impact on residents and businesses:  
 

 LFFN Phase 2 funded from a £2.5m Getting Building Fund Grant to extend Phase 1 
rollout specifically to more rural areas, will roll out to Circa 85 sites, and additional 
Circa 75Km of spine fibre, plus point to point Backhaul connectivity across ASELA. 
Delivery has started and will be completed by March 2022 

 Wide Area Network (WAN) - Implement and migrate all sites to the new WAN provided 
by High Speed Office. This will provide 10 ten times the core bandwidth available 
across the WAN and all end sites will receive significant increases with the majority 
receiving 200Mb 

 Upgrading the interface between the Mitel telephony system and MSTeams to add 
additional voice functionality that will enable calls to be made through laptops. 

Page 37





 Upgrade our firewalls to increased throughput, better management and integration of 
security features that are currently split across multiple appliances 

 Enhance our Govservice platform to add building control and Taxi licensing as part of 
our service offering 

 Upgrade our disaster recovery solution currently hosted in Southend  

 Further rollout of M365 capability to the wider council 

 Delivery of the digital projects associated with corporate transformation plan including 
paperless office and providing support to the Digital Efficiency Review  

 Development of our robotic process automation capability to help the wider 
organisation to transform the way they work  and make efficiency savings 

 Rollout of the M365 collaboration and communication tools including 

 Provision of omni-channel technology (as per Customer Services above) enabling 
residents to receive a more efficient and timely response to standard enquiries  

 
 
FINANCIAL INFORMATION  
 

Service Last year 
outturn  

Budget Q1 
Forecast  

Q1 
Variance  

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Community Development 
and Equalities  

721 778 730 (48) 

Libraries 1,203 1,322 1,179 (144) 

Strategy  297 325 325 0 

Communications 456 527 538 11 

Customer Services 853 1,177 909 (268) 

Arts Development 18 14 14 0 

Theatre 86 (7) 8 15 

Museum 52 109 93 (16) 

Internal Audit  189 310 216 (94) 

Legal Services 1,915 1,934 1,936 2 

Democratic Services 219 235 230 (5) 

Electoral Services 287 486 403 (83) 

Member Services 755 804 793 (11) 

Procurement/contract 
management 

863 1,006 995 (10) 

Corporate Programme 
Team 

676 988 749 (238) 

Information Team 590 601 623 23 

HR, OD and Payroll 2,840 3,654 3,556 (98) 

Information Technology 3,390 3,664 3,628 (36) 

 
 

Page 38



 

Questions from Members to the Leader, Cabinet Members, Chairs of 
Committees or Members appointed to represent the Council on a Joint 
Committee in accordance with Chapter 2, Part 2 (Rule 14) of the 
Council’s Constitution. 
 
There were no questions to the Leader and 7 questions to Cabinet Members, 
Committee Chairs and Member appointed to represent the Council on a Joint 
Committee. 
 
 
QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS TO CABINET MEMBERS, COMMITTEE 
CHAIRS AND MEMBERS APPOINTED TO REPRESENT THE COUNCIL 
ON A JOINT COMMITTEE 
 
1. From Councillor Okunade to Councillor Maney 

 
Russell Road, Church Road, Dunlop Road, Adelaide Road, Leicester 
Road, Park Avenue, the Beeches and surrounding roads, as well as 
side roads along the Dock Road in Tilbury are worn and deteriorated 
and have been reported on numerous occasions.  Due to a lack of 
attention, these roads have deteriorated even further. Is the Portfolio 
Holder able to ensure that these roads are inspected for structural 
problems and that necessary repairs are made? 
 

2. From Councillor Okunade to Councillor Mayes 

 
As Portfolio Holder responsible for air quality, if you agree that dust 
pollution is a significant problem that has a negative impact on the 
health and well-being of Tilbury residents, how are you working with 
the Environment Agency to tackle dust pollution in Tilbury? 

 
3. From Councillor Byrne to Councillor Jefferies 
 

Thurrock Council ask residents to care for wild life without disturbing it, 
then continue to use pesticides. Can the Portfolio Holder explain why 
the Council continues to use pesticides? 

 
4. From Councillor Byrne to Councillor Hebb 
 

Sports Pitches receive £184k in the current Council budget, the Arts 
£13,500. Can the Portfolio Holder please explain the difference in 
funding for Sport Pitches against that of the Arts? 

 
5. From Councillor Chukwu to Councillor Mayes 
 

What additional measures have you put in place to reduce the surge of 
Covid cases in our schools? 

 
  

Page 39

Agenda Item 13



 

6. From Councillor Rigby to Councillor Maney 
 

In respect of Stifford Clays ward, please would the Portfolio Holder for 
Highways and Transport explain what highway works/repairs have 
taken place in the past three years including but not limited to all 
pavement repairs/reconstructions, road repairs/resurfacing work, street 
column replacements and bus shelter replacements? 

 
7. From Councillor J Kent to Councillor Jefferies 
 

How many net tonnes of carbon were emitted by Thurrock Council in 
the calendar years 2019 and 2020? 

 
 

Page 40



This report lists all motions from the previous twelve months which still have updates forthcoming. All Motions which have been resolved or the actions 

from officers have been completed are removed. 

Date  From  Motion Status Director 

No current 

motions 

  
 

 

 

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 16



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Motions Submitted to Council  
 
In accordance with Chapter 2, Part 2 (Rule 15) of the Council’s Constitution 
 
Motion 1 
 
Submitted by Councillor Fletcher 
 
That this chamber recognises the unique community value of the Grangewaters Outdoor 
Education Centre as a place where our young people learn the skills, values and 
understanding of their environment that our borough urgently needs; and as an essential 
training facility for local groups as diverse as schools, triathletes and the Grays yacht club 
and that this chamber urges Cabinet to halt any plans to sell or close the centre. 

Monitoring Officer Comments: 

The motion relates to a matter affecting the authority and over which the Council has 
relevant functions. The Council has a duty to consider best value in its use of 
resources and this would include the consideration of the future of Grangewaters. It 
should be noted the management and decision making relating to Grangewaters are 
matters for the Cabinet. The Council cannot impose a direct instruction that the 
services remain. 
 
Under rule 15.15 of the Council Procedure and Rules, as the subject matter of the 
motion is within the remit of the Cabinet, upon being moved and formally seconded, 
it shall stand referred without discussion to the Cabinet as the Council may 
determine, for consideration and report to the Council as soon as practical. At that 
time the motion shall be considered with any such report which shall include any 
appropriate risk assessment. 
 
Section 151 Officer Comments: 
 
The council is currently reviewing its operational estate to meet the objective of fewer 
building, better services and to reduce its running costs and the need for future 
investment.  Grangewaters has been identified as an asset where the further 
consideration on whether it should remain as a core service is required.  However, at 
this time, there are no immediate plans to either close or sell the asset. 
 
Is the above motion within the remit of Council to approve?  
 
Yes 

Page 43

Agenda Item 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Motions Submitted to Council  
 
In accordance with Chapter 2, Part 2 (Rule 15) of the Council’s Constitution 
 
Motion 2 
 
Submitted by Councillor Worrall 

This Council shares the concerns of residents living around the former Grays Adult 
Education College and Alf Lowne Scout Centre about the future of the site. Council 
calls on Cabinet to bring forward a comprehensive plan for the future of the whole 
site and halt any demolition or development, on this site until that plan has been 
consulted on and agreed. 

Monitoring Officer Comments: 

The motion relates to a matter affecting the authority’s area and relates to a matter in 
respect of which the Council has a relevant function. The Council has a duty to 
consider best value in its use of resources and this would include the consideration 
of the future of the former Grays Adult Education College and Alf Lowne Scout 
Centre. 
 
Proposals for the future of the former Grays Adult Education College and Alf Lowne 
Scout Centre would need to be developed for consideration and decision by the 
Cabinet. The Council cannot impose a direct instruction relating the management 
demolition and development of the site. 
 
Section 151 Officer Comments: 
 
Since the Thurrock Adult Community College moved out of the building, there has 
been several incidents of vandalism and anti-social behaviour requiring an ongoing 
security presence.  Contracts have already been let for demolition and pre-
demolition works such as the removal of asbestos and surveys are currently 
underway. 
 
In terms of the future of the site, officers will be required to bring forward options and 
recommendations to Members to make the necessary decision. 
 
Is the above motion within the remit of Council to approve?  
 
Yes 

Page 45

Agenda Item 18



This page is intentionally left blank



Motions Submitted to Council  
 
In accordance with Chapter 2, Part 2 (Rule 15) of the Council’s Constitution 
 
Motion 3 
 
Submitted by Councillor Muldowney 

This Council notes that (1) a recent report to Government by the Social Mobility 
Commission reported that nearly a third of all children now live in poverty, with 
500,000 children in England being plunged into poverty since 2012; and (2) the 
Council’s Child Poverty Strategy lapsed in 2020 and needs to be refreshed. Council 
agrees with the Social Mobility Commission that (1) child poverty is a preventable 
problem and (2) agrees to undertake a rapid review of child poverty in the borough in 
order to inform a refresh of its Child Poverty Strategy. 

Monitoring Officer Comments: 

The motion relates to a matter affecting the authority’s area and relates to a matter in 
respect of which the Council has a relevant function.  
 
The Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 removed from law the Child Poverty Act 
2010 which placed certain responsibilities on local authorities and its partners to 
reduce child poverty. However child poverty is a cross cutting issue for services 
provided by the Council. Therefore the Council may rely on other powers available to 
mitigate child poverty through service provision.  
 
A Cabinet decision would be required to approve an updated Child Poverty 
Reduction Plan. It should be noted that Council cannot impose a direct instruction for 
Cabinet to make such a decision. 
 
Section 151 Officer Comments: 
 
This was the subject of a recent report to Overview and Scrutiny.  In discussion with 
Public Health, with other pressures from the Covid response, additional resource 
would be required to refresh the strategy at this time. 
 
Is the above motion within the remit of Council to approve?  
 
Yes 

Page 47

Agenda Item 19



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	 
	6 Questions from Members of the Public
	8 Petitions Update Report
	10 Assistant Director Children's Social Care and Early Help Appointment
	11 Political Assistants
	12 Report of the Cabinet Member for Central Services
	13 Questions from Members
	16 Update on motions resolved at Council during the previous year
	17 Motion submitted by Councillor Fletcher
	18 Motion submitted by Councillor Worrall
	19 Motion submitted by Councillor Muldowney

